I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

 Petitioner is Puget Soundkeeper Alliance (“Soundkeeper”), 

petitioner in the Court of Appeals below, and appellant in the initial 

Pollution Control Hearings Board (“PCHB”) appeal of the National 

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit issued by 

respondent Department of Ecology (“Ecology”) to discharger Seattle Iron 

& Metals (“SIM”). 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, 

Unpublished Opinion, dated February 22, 2017. A copy of the Court’s 

decision is included in the Appendix at A-1 (hereinafter, “Decision”). 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does WAC 173-201A-260(3) allow the specification of EPA 

Method 1668C for compliance monitoring in NPDES permits to ensure 

against the discharge of total PCBs that would violate water quality 

standards as required by RCW 90.48.010 and RCW 90.48.520? 

2. May Ecology issue an NPDES permit that authorizes discharges of 

total PCBs at concentrations up to 0.5 µg/L when total PCB discharge 

concentrations must be limited to 0.00017 µg/L to ensure compliance with 

water quality standards? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. PCB Contamination in the Lower Duwamish Waterway 

 The lowest 5.5 mile stretch of the Duwamish River and 

surrounding uplands, including the location of SIM and its discharges, 

constitutes the Lower Duwamish Waterway Superfund site (“LDW Site”). 

Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. Ecology and Seattle Iron & Metals Corp., 

PCHB No. 13-137c, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (July 

23, 2015) (“PCHB Order”) at 3.1 Due largely to historic sources of 

pollution, the LDW Site – its sediments and the tissue of resident fish and 

shellfish – is dangerously contaminated with hazardous chemicals. Id. at 

45 – 47. The ongoing Superfund cleanup comprises an EPA-led effort to 

identify and cleanup particularly contaminated areas of LDW Site 

sediment, and a multi-agency, Ecology-led effort to control present 

sources of contamination to avoid recontamination of cleanup areas. Id. at 

5 – 6. The intent of the cleanup plan “is to reduce contaminant 

concentrations in sediments, surface water, and fish and shellfish tissue to 

the extent practicable, and to minimize reliance on fish and shellfish 

consumption advisories to reduce human exposure from ingestion of 

                                                           
1 Copies of PCHB decisions cited in this Petition are included in the 

Appendix, along with relevant statutory provisions and select other cited 

materials. 
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contaminated resident fish and shellfish.” Id. at 5. EPA estimates that the 

costs of the cleanup, to be borne by actors in both the private and public 

spheres, will reach well into the hundreds of millions of dollars.  City of 

Seattle v. Monsanto Company, et al., W.D. Wash. No. 16-cv-107-RSL, 

Plaintiff’s Original Complaint (January 25, 2016) at 3 – 4. 

 The LDW Superfund cleanup focuses primarily on PCBs. PCHB 

Order at 4 – 6; City of Seattle v. Monsanto Co., Case No. 16-cv-107-RSL, 

2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24957, *3 – 4 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 22, 2017). PCBs 

are polychlorinated biphenyls, a group of 209 manmade chlorinated 

organic chemicals (“congeners”) that are highly toxic to humans and 

animals. Hines v. CONRAIL, 926 F.2d 262, 264 n.1 (3rd Cir. 1991). PCBs 

belong to a class of chemicals regulated as “PBTs,” or persistent 

bioaccumulative toxics, also called “BCCs,” or bioaccumulative chemicals 

of concern. WAC 173-333-310; 64 Fed. Reg. 58666, 58668 – 58671 (Oct. 

29, 1999). Besides their high toxicity, PCBs persist in the environment, 

typically taking decades to degrade. WAC 173-333-100, -320. Due to their 

strong preference to bond to organic matter, PCBs bioaccumulate in 

animal tissue, and biomagnify (or bioconcentrate) as they are passed from 

prey to predator up the food chain. WAC 173-333-320; Environmental 

Defense Fund, Inc. v. U.S. EPA, 636 F.2d 1267, 1270 (D.C. Cir. 1980); 

PCHB Order at 4, 46.  
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 Due to grossly elevated levels of PCBs found in tissue of animals 

taken from the LDW Site, the Washington Department of Health declared 

consumption of LDW Site-resident fish and shellfish to be a “public 

health hazard,” and issued a formal advisory against eating these. PCHB 

Order at 4, 45.  

B. State Water Pollution Statutes and Regulations Prohibit 

 Discharges that Cause Violations of Water Quality Standards. 

 Congress enacted the Clean Water Act in 1972 (“CWA”) with the 

sweeping goals of maintaining and restoring the “chemical, physical, and 

biological integrity” of the nation’s waters, eliminating the discharge of 

pollutants, and providing for the protection of beneficial uses like fish and 

recreation. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a); Pronsolino v. Nastri, 291 F.3d 1123, 

1126 (9th Cir. 2002). The heart of the CWA is Section 301(a), which 

prohibits discharges without an NPDES permit (or other authorization 

appropriate in circumstances not relevant here). 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a); 

Ass’n to Protect Hammersley, Eld, and Totten Inlets (“APHETI”) v. 

Taylor Res., 299 F.3d 1007, 1009 (9th Cir. 2002). Among other federal 

requirements, NPDES permits must impose effluent limitations to ensure 

against resulting violations of water quality standards. 33 U.S.C. §§ 

1311(b)(1)(C) and 1342(a) and (b); Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. 

Pollution Control Hearings Board, 189 Wn.App. 127, 137 – 138 (2015).  
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 Ecology has been delegated authority by the EPA to implement the 

NPDES permit program in Washington. Puget Soundkeeper Alliance, 189 

Wn.App. at 138. With regard to state implementation of the NPDES, the 

CWA expressly allows states to adopt and enforce permit requirements 

that are more stringent than those mandated by federal law. 33 U.S.C. § 

1370; Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Hammond, 726 F.2d 483, 489 (9th Cir. 

1984). 

 Washington’s water pollution control law is intended to maintain 

the highest possible water quality standards, and to exercise state powers 

fully to this end. RCW 90.48.010. State policy calls for working 

cooperatively with the federal government “to extinguish the sources of 

water quality degradation, while at the same time preserving and 

vigorously exercising state powers to insure that present and future 

standards of water quality within the state shall be determined by 

[Washington’s] citizenry ….” Id. Washington statute “in no uncertain 

terms prohibit[s Ecology] from issuing permits that allow toxic discharges 

in violation of applicable standards.” Puget Soundkeeper Alliance, 189 

Wn.App. at 138; RCW 90.48.520. This statute is more stringent than the 

CWA’s prohibition on toxic discharges, categorically stating that “[i]n no 

event shall the discharge of toxicants be allowed that would violate any 
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water quality standard, including toxicant standards ….” Puget 

Soundkeeper Alliance, 189 Wn.App. at 149; RCW 90.48.520. 

 The RCW 90.48.520 categorical prohibition on authorization of 

toxic discharges is implemented, in no uncertain terms, through several 

state NPDES permitting regulations:  

 - “Toxic substances shall not be introduced above natural 

background levels in waters of the state which have the potential either 

singularly or cumulatively to adversely affect characteristic water uses, 

cause acute or chronic toxicity …, or adversely affect public health as 

determined by [Ecology].” WAC 173-201A-240(1). “[Ecology] shall 

employ or require chemical testing, … as appropriate, to evaluate 

compliance with subsection (1) of this section ….” WAC 173-201A-

240(2). 

 - “Waste discharge permits, whether issued pursuant to the 

[NPDES] or otherwise, must be conditioned so the discharges authorized 

will meet the water quality standards. No waste discharge permit can be 

issued that causes or contributes to a violation of water quality criteria, 

except as provided for in this chapter.” WAC 173-201A-510(1). 

 -  “Permits must be modified by [Ecology] when it is 

determined that the discharge causes or contributes to a violation of water 

quality standards.” WAC 173-201A-510(1)(b). 



7 
 

 - “Any permit issued by [Ecology] shall apply and insure 

compliance with all of the following, whenever applicable: … Any more 

stringent limitation, including those necessary to [] [m]eet water quality 

standards … established pursuant to any state law or regulation under 

authority preserved to the state by [33 U.S.C. § 1370].” WAC 173-220-

130(1)(b)(i). 

C. The PCHB Required a PCB Limit of 0.00017 µg/L to Protect 

 Water Quality but Allowed Compliance to be Determined by a 

 Lab Method Capable of Quantifying PCBs Only to 0.5 µg/L 

 Soundkeeper appealed the SIM NPDES permit before the PCHB. 

The PCHB Order, issued after a four-day evidentiary hearing, rejects the 

establishment of a mixing zone and the consideration of dilution in the 

derivation of numeric effluent limitations for total PCBs in discharges to 

the LDW Site authorized by the SIM NPDES permit. PCHB Order at 45 – 

49. In concluding that total PCB discharge concentrations must be limited 

to the applicable water quality criterion of 0.00017 µg/L, the PCHB 

considered the grossly elevated PCBs in Duwamish River sediments and 

fish tissue, the fish consumption advisory, the LDW Site Superfund 

cleanup effort, abundant PCBs found in dirt around SIM’s facility, and 

that SIM is a potential source of LDW site recontamination because 

“PCBs are found in the types of materials processed by SIM.” PCHB 
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Order at 45 – 47. The PCHB disallowed the use of the mixing zone 

exception to the mandate for strict compliance with water quality 

standards because Ecology could not, as required by WAC 173-201A-

400(4), present evidence clearly indicating that a mixing zone for SIM’s 

discharge of PCBs to the LDW Site “would not have a reasonable 

potential to cause a loss of sensitive or important habitat, substantially 

interfere with the existing or characteristic uses of the water body, result in 

damage to the ecosystem, or adversely affect public health as determined 

by the department.” Id. at 46 – 47. Furthermore, the PCHB found that the 

granting of a mixing zone to SIM for PCBs is “counterproductive” to the 

LDW Site source control efforts intended to stop the PCB recontamination 

of sediments that Ecology leads as part of the LDW Site Superfund 

cleanup. Id. at 47. 

 The PCHB, in other words, rejected the SIM NPDES permit total 

PCB effluent limit of 0.0051 µg/L as inadequately protective of water 

quality, finding that discharge concentrations must be capped at 0.00017 

µg/L to ensure against violations of applicable water quality standards for 

PCBs and frustration of the LDW Site cleanup effort. Id. at 10 and 47. 

 The PCHB, however, rejected Soundkeeper’s argument to disallow 

compliance with this total PCB effluent limitation to be determined by the 

use of laboratory analysis Method 608, which is capable of quantifying 
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PCBs down only to this method’s practical quantitation level (“PQL”) of 

0.5 µg/L, orders of magnitude higher than the requisite numeric effluent 

limitation of 0.00017 µg/L. When an effluent limitation is less than the 

PQL of the analytical method required, the effluent limit effectively 

becomes the method’s PQL. PCHB Order at 26. While recognizing the 

availability of more precise laboratory methods, including EPA Method 

1668C, the most recently developed and most sensitive method available 

that provides a PQL as low as 0.000022 µg/L, the PCHB held that WAC 

173-201A-260(3)(h) requires Ecology to specify compliance monitoring 

by Method 608 because it is the only PCB analysis method identified by 

EPA regulation at 40 C.F.R. § 136. PCHB Order at 34; Decision at 13. 

D. The Court of Appeals Upheld the PCHB’s Ruling 

 Soundkeeper appealed the PCHB Order, and the Court of Appeals, 

Division II, granted direct review. The court upheld the PCHB Order, 

holding that EPA Method 1668C is not a “superseding method published” 

under WAC 173-201A-260(h), and is thus not available for inclusion in 

SIM’s NPDES permit.2 The court also rejected Soundkeeper’s argument 

that an NPDES permit authorizing SIM to use Method 608 and its PQL of 

                                                           
2 The Court of Appeals agreed with Soundkeeper on a second issue and 

reversed the PCHB Order on the adequacy of numeric effluent limitations 

for copper and zinc concentrations in SIM’s untreated stormwater 

discharge. Decision at 19-20.  
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0.5 µg/L to determine compliance with an effluent limitation of 0.00017 

µg/L total PCBs cannot be issued under state law, RCW 90.48.520, and 

implementing regulations. 

 Soundkeeper timely seeks discretionary review of the Decision. 

V. ARGUMENT 

 The Supreme Court should grant this petition for review because it 

involves issues of substantial public interest that the Court should 

determine and because the Decision is in conflict with the published 

decision of the Court of Appeals in Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. 

Pollution Control Hearings Board, 189 Wn.App. 127 (2015). RAP 

13.4(b)(2) and (4). 

A. This Petition Involves Issues of Substantial Public Interest 

 That the Court Should Determine 

 1. The Decision threatens the public interest in the LDW  

  Site Superfund cleanup. 

 As the PCHB found, setting the allowable concentration of total 

PCBs in SIM’s discharge to the LDW Site at levels higher than the 

applicable water quality standard of 0.00017 µg/L is “counterproductive” 

to Ecology-led source control efforts to prevent LDW Site 

recontamination, and invalid under the state water pollution control law. 

PCHB Order at 47. Soundkeeper respectfully asserts that it is thus 
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nonsensical to defer to Ecology’s narrow interpretation of WAC 173-

201A-260(3)(h), to conclude that the agency must issue SIM’s NPDES 

permit specifying PCB compliance monitoring by Method 608, thereby 

increasing the effective total PCB limit to 0.5 µg/L, a level nearly three 

thousand times higher than the maximum concentration deemed safe and 

allowable. The issue presented by this petition should be decided by the 

Court to ensure that state law is properly implemented to prevent the 

recontamination of a major Superfund site within the City of Seattle with 

persistent bioaccumulative toxic PCBs that threaten human and 

environmental health. 

 According to the Washington Department of Health, the LDW Site 

is a public health hazard due to very elevated PCB concentrations in its 

resident fish. PCHB Order at 4. LDW Site Superfund cleanup efforts have 

been underway since 2001, and EPA’s 2014 Superfund Record of 

Decision requires public and private responsible parties to spend hundreds 

of millions of dollars to dredge and cap PCB-contaminated locations in the 

river. PCHB Order at 3 – 5; City of Seattle, W.D. Wash. No. 16-107RSL, 

Plaintiff’s Original Complaint (January 25, 2016) at 3 - 4. For instance, as 

part of the Superfund cleanup and source control effort, the City of Seattle 

will be constructing a stormwater treatment plant to remove PCBs from a 

small fraction of stormwater discharges to the LDW Site at a cost 
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estimated to be nearly $27 million, and expects other costs in addition as a 

result of its Superfund liability. City of Seattle, W.D. Wash. No. 16-

107RSL, Plaintiff’s Original Complaint (January 25, 2016) at 3 – 4. The 

Decision permits SIM to generate and add to the LDW Site effluent 

concentrations up to 0.5 µg/L total PCBs, rather than disallowing the 

permit or mandating the use of EPA Method 1668C, with its ability to 

quantify total PCBs to 0.000022 µg/L and so make effective, rather than 

merely nominal, the 0.00017 µg/L limit found necessary under state law. 

This presents an issue of substantial public interest in relation to the goals 

and potential for success of the LDW Site Superfund cleanup. 

 2. Implementation of Washington’s Water Pollution  

  Control Act with regard to toxic pollutants is of   

  substantial public interest. 

 State law provides a categorical prohibition on authorization of 

toxic discharges that is more stringent than mandates of the federal CWA. 

Puget Soundkeeper Alliance, 189 Wn.App. at 149. “In no event shall the 

discharge of toxicants be allowed that would violate any water quality 

standard, including toxicant standards, sediment criteria, and dilution zone 

criteria.” RCW 90.48.520. The key issue in this case – whether Ecology 

may issue an NPDES permit that allows total PCB discharges of up to 0.5 

µg/L when discharges must be limited to a level nearly three thousand 
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times lower to avoid such violation of applicable water quality standards – 

goes directly to the meaning and effect of this bedrock provision of State 

water pollution control law. There are very few court decisions, published 

or unpublished, concerning the RCW 90.48.520 toxic discharge 

prohibition and the State’s implementing regulations. This petition 

squarely presents an important issue about the meaning of this statutory 

provision in a case with a well-developed set of undisputed facts. 

 3. The role of substantive State standards in the   

  administration of federally-delegated environmental  

  regulatory programs under a cooperative federal-state  

  scheme is of substantial public interest. 

 In this case, the PCHB and appeals court essentially allowed 

Ecology to blindly defer to EPA’s apparently arbitrary requirement for use 

of an inadequate PCB compliance monitoring method by narrowly reading 

WAC 173-201A-260(3)(h) without consideration of a substantive state 

statutory mandate and despite competing regulatory requirements 

designed to implement that mandate. Decision at 11 – 15. The NPDES 

permit program established by the CWA is one of cooperative federalism 

designed to preserve the State’s authority to impose its own requirements 

more stringent than federal ones. Aminoil U. S. A., Inc. v. California State 

Water Resources Control Bd., 674 F.2d 1227, 1229 – 1230 (9th Cir. 
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1982); 33 U.S.C. § 1370; WAC 173-220-130(1)(b)(i). State law 

establishes a policy of working with the federal government in a “joint 

effort to extinguish the sources of water quality degradation, while at the 

same time preserving and vigorously exercising state powers to insure that 

present and future standards of water quality within the state shall be 

determined by the citizenry, through and by the efforts of state 

government, of the state of Washington.” RCW 90.48.010; see also WAC 

173-220-130(1)(b)(i). The meaning and implementation of this policy is at 

stake in this case. If the Decision is allowed to stand, this policy amounts 

to empty words since Ecology need consider nothing more than the floor 

EPA sets for stringency of controls on toxic pollution discharges. If the 

Decision is allowed to stand, the toxic discharge prohibition of State law is 

rendered toothless, despite being considered more stringent than the 

federal CWA prohibition. RCW 90.48.520; Puget Soundkeeper Alliance, 

189 Wn.App. at 149. 

 The importance of state substantive standards in cooperative 

federalism arrangements for environmental regulation extends well 

beyond the NPDES permit program under the CWA. The State is engaged 

in a number of environmental regulatory systems under similar 

cooperative federalism schemes in which the State has or may establish 

substantive standards more stringent than federal ones. These include 
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Clean Air Act programs under 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. and RCW Ch. 

70.94 (see, e.g., WAC 173-401-100), solid and hazardous waste regulation 

under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et 

seq., and RCW Ch. 70.105 (see, e.g., WAC 173-303-010 and WAC 173-

351-010), Coastal Zone Management Act programs under 16 U.S.C. § 

1451, et seq., and RCW Ch. 90.58 (see, e.g., WAC 173-27-060), Safe 

Drinking Water Act programs under 42 U.S.C. 300f, et seq., and RCW 

Ch. 70.119A (see, e.g., WAC 246-290-001), and Federal Insecticide, 

Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act programs under 7 U.S.C. § 136, et seq., 

and RCW Chs. 17.21 and 15.58 (administered by Washington State 

Department of Agriculture).  

 Soundkeeper submits that the current national political climate and 

recent leadership changes at EPA make the implementation of substantive 

state standards providing greater environmental protection than federal 

requirements under the CWA and other cooperative federalism schemes 

more important than ever. Fundamental questions about implementation of 

such a standard – RCW 90.48.520’s toxic discharge prohibition – are 

directly presented by this petition for review. 
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B. The Decision Conflicts with Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. 

 Pollution Control Hearings Board, 189 Wn.App. 127 (2015) 

 The challenged Decision interprets the toxic discharge prohibition 

of RCW 90.48.520 and its implementing regulations in such a 

fundamentally different manner than the court did in Puget Soundkeeper 

Alliance that this difference amounts to a conflict that should be addressed 

by the Supreme Court. 

 In Puget Soundkeeper Alliance, the court construed the RCW 

90.48.520 toxic discharge prohibition in the context of an NPDES permit’s 

whole effluent toxicity (“WET”) limitations imposed under WAC Ch. 

173-205. 189 Wn.App. at 137 – 141.  In determining the operation of the 

WET regulations at issue, the court stressed the categorical nature of the 

RCW 90.48.520 toxic discharge prohibition and its greater stringency 

relative to federal CWA standards. Id at 149. The court examined the 

manifestations of the State statutory prohibition in the State’s NPDES 

permitting regulations to aid interpretation; noting that WAC 173-220-

150(1)(c) provides that “each issued [NPDES] permit shall require that … 

[a]ny discharge of any pollutant … at a level in excess of that identified 

and authorized by the permit shall constitute a violation of the terms and 

conditions of the permit,” that WAC 173-201A-240(1) prohibits the 

introduction of toxic substances above natural levels that have the 
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potential to adversely affect characteristic water uses or public health, or 

cause toxicity, and that WAC 173-201A-240(2) mandates the imposition 

on permittees of chemical testing requirements appropriate to evaluate 

compliance with the -240(1) standard. Id at 138 - 139, 143, 146. The court 

held that Ecology’s interpretation of its rules and statutes must be guided 

by the environmental trusteeship duties imposed on Ecology in particular 

by the substantive provisions of the State Environmental Policy Act, RCW 

Ch. 43.21C. Id at 148. And, the court strongly admonished Ecology that 

“[a]llowing violations of water quality standards, especially for the 

convenience of permittees and regulators does not provide a rational basis 

for disregarding the plain language of [Ecology’s] rules and is an 

abdication of its responsibility to implement those rules.” Id. 

 In contrast and conflictingly, the Decision allows violations of 

water quality standards so that Ecology can simply defer to EPA’s default 

and inadequate compliance monitoring method, rather than seeking or 

requiring approval for compliance monitoring use of EPA Method 1668C, 

or, alternatively, denying SIM’s permit application. Decision at 12 – 15. 

The Decision cites the Puget Soundkeeper Alliance opinion, the RCW 

90.48.520 prohibition, and bluntly worded state regulations that 

implement it, before concluding, with virtually no analysis or reasoning, 

that Ecology’s narrow reading of WAC 173-201A-260(3)(h) warrants 
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deference and requires Ecology to determine compliance with total PCB 

effluent limitations in SIM’s NPDES permit using only the manifestly 

inadequate Method 608 because that is the only PCB analysis method 

included in EPA’s list of approved methods. Decision at 7 – 9 and 12 – 15.

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