FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/23/2017 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94293-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUGET SOUNDKEEPER ALLIANCE,

v.

Petitioner,

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY; and STATE OF WASHINGTON, POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondents.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Phyllis J. Barney Assistant Attorney General WSBA #40678 P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 (360) 586-4616 OID #91024

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Supreme Court should deny PSA's Petition. The Court of Appeals properly held that it was "lawful for Ecology to issue an NPDES permit that calls for the use of Method 608 to test PCBs." *Id.* Also, the question presented here is not of substantial public interest because the outcome is dictated by state and federal regulations. The policy arguments advanced by PSA in its Petition do not establish a basis for review as they cannot override the dictates of state and federal regulation. And finally, contrary to PSA's argument, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is

consistent, not in conflict, with its prior decision in Puget Soundkeeper

Alliance,189 Wn. App at 127. As the Court of Appeals correctly found,

Ecology's inclusion of Method 608 in the Seattle Iron Permit is lawful.

A. This Case Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Importance Because Ecology's Use of Method 608 is Mandated by Federal and State Regulation

Ecology's choice of the method used to test for PCBs in NPDES

permits is determined by state and federal law. EPA requires that:

The procedures prescribed herein shall, except as noted in §§ 136.4, 136.5, and 136.6, be used to perform the measurements indicated whenever the waste constituent specified is required to be measured for.

40 C.F.R. § 136.1.² The federal regulation specifies that reports required to

be submitted by dischargers under the NPDES permit must utilize test

procedures found in 40 C.F.R. §§ 136.4, 136.1(a)(2).

Federal regulations governing permit requirements state that monitoring for permit compliance must be:

According to sufficiently sensitive test procedures (i.e., methods) approved under 40 C.F.R. part 136 for the analysis of pollutants or pollutant parameters.

 $^{^{2}}$ 40 C.F.R. §§ 136.4–136.6 is the approval process for use of unlisted methods. As the Court of Appeals noted, Ecology has the optional ability to seek approval of a test method other than those listed in 40 C.F.R. part 136 pursuant to the regulation. The Board properly determined it had no authority to require Ecology to seek such optional approval. Board Decision at 35; Slip Op. at 14 n.13.

40 C.F.R. § 122.44(i)(1)(iv). A method is "sufficiently sensitive" when "[t]he method has the lowest [method minimum detection level] of the analytical methods approved under 40 CFR part 136."³ 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(i)(1)(iv)(A)(2). Method 608 is the only method approved for PCB analysis, so there is no other approved procedure with a lower method minimum level.

State water quality standards mirror the federal regulations, requiring that EPA-approved methods found in 40 C.F.R. part 136 are used for monitoring:

The analytical testing methods for these numeric criteria must be in accordance with the "Guidelines Establishing Test Procedures for the Analysis of Pollutants" (40 C.F.R. Part 136) or superseding methods published. The department may also approve other methods following consultation with adjacent states and with the approval of the USEPA.

WAC 173-201A-260(3)(h). The Court of Appeals correctly held that use

of Method 608 in Seattle Iron's Permit is lawful.⁴

PSA ignores the specific provisions of federal and state regulation to advocate for the use of a different test method. The federal regulation

 $^{^3}$ The detection limit means the "minimum concentration of an analyte (substance) that can be measured and reported with a 99% confidence that the analyte concentration is greater than zero." 40 C.F.R. § 136.2(f).

⁴ Below, PSA also contended that the more sensitive testing method 1668C was a "superseding method" within the terms of the regulation. The Court of Appeals, however, correctly rejected this argument and PSA does not raise it again in its Petition. Consequently, this argument cannot form the basis for review. RAP 13.7(b); *Clam Shacks of America, Inc. v. Skagit Cty.*, 109 Wn.2d 91, 98, 743 P.2d 265 (1987).

states that the methods found in 40 C.F.R. part 136 "shall" be used for required testing. The use of the word "shall" in a regulation is presumptively imperative and creates a duty rather than confers discretion. *Crown Cascade, Inc. v. O'Neal*, 100 Wn.2d 256, 261, 668 P.2d 585 (1983). PSA glosses over the fact that in 2012 EPA declined to add Method 1668C to 40 C.F.R. part 136 after it first proposed, in 2010, to do so. EPA's decision was based in part on negative public comments it received regarding problems with Method 1668C. Should EPA eventually choose to modify 40 C.F.R. part 136 to include Method 1668C, the method would then be available for PCB testing for permit compliance. But until that occurs, federal and state regulations require the use of Method 608 for permit compliance. The Court of Appeals correctly held as such.

B. PSA's Arguments Cannot Overcome Clear Statutory Requirements to Use Approved Test Methods

PSA makes a variety of policy arguments in its Petition to the effect that the public interest requires a more stringent testing method. *See* 10–11, 13–15. These arguments are unavailing as they do not establish a legal basis for deviating from the requirements of the regulation.

1. State and federal law both equally protect surface waters from the discharge of toxic pollutants

PSA reads a great deal into the Court of Appeals' discussion in *Puget Soundkeeper Alliance*, 189 Wn. App. at 127 (*PSA I*) on the regulatory prohibitions against the discharge of toxic pollutants. Although *PSA I* describes the state statute, RCW 90.48.520, as more "categorical" than the federal statute, the court never said that this "categorical" nature makes state law "more stringent" than federal law, as PSA claims. Petition at 5, 12, 14, 16. In fact, what the court said was "[b]oth federal and state statutes are definitive in prohibiting the discharge of toxic pollutants into receiving waters." *PSA I*, 189 Wn. App. at 149 (citing 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)(3) and RCW 90.48.520). The court went on to decide the case on the specific terms of Whole Effluent Toxicity regulation, not on its broader discussion of water quality statutes.⁵

While under the Clean Water Act a state does have the option to regulate more stringently than federal standards, it is not required to, especially here where both state and federal law prohibit the discharge of toxic pollutants. 33 U.S.C. § 1370. PSA cannot use the general prohibitions against the discharge of pollutants to overcome the specific

⁵ Likewise, the *PSA I* court's statements on the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) must be considered dicta. *PSA I*, 189 Wn. App. at 148. No SEPA issues were pled, briefed, or argued in the case, and the court's observations concerning SEPA compliance were not "involved in the case or essential to its determination." *State ex rel. Lemon v. Langlie*, 45 Wn.2d 82, 89, 273 P.2d 464 (1954).

requirement in the regulation that Ecology use EPA-approved methods for compliance testing in permits. *See Kustura v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 169 Wn.2d 81, 88, 233 P.3d 853 (2010) (stating that a specific statute will supersede a general one when both apply). Nor do state policy declarations control over the more specific regulatory provisions adopted to implement those general declarations. *Cf. Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. Dep't of Ecology*, 102 Wn. App. 783, 790, 9 P.3d 892 (2000) (stating that declarations of policy do not control over more specific statutory provisions adopted to implement those general declarations). The Court of Appeals properly denied PSA's attempt to read the requirement for the use of EPA approved methods out of the state regulation.

2. The permit does not allow the discharge of PCBs in excess of the express water quality based limit

The Board found that the discharge limit for PCBs in Seattle Iron's Permit should be set at the applicable human health criteria of $0.00017 \mu g/L$. Board Decision at 47. Discharges that contain a higher amount of PCBs are prohibited. AR 3259–60.⁶ "Any discharge of any pollutant more frequent than or at a level in excess of that identified and authorized by the permit shall constitute a violation of the terms and

⁶ Citation is to pages 6 and 7 of the Permit under appeal at the Board hearing, authorizing discharges from Seattle Iron subject to the specified limits. The Board's Decision modified the PCB limits in the two discharges (Outfalls 001 and 002) to $0.00017 \mu g/L$. Board Decision at 47.

conditions of the permit." WAC 173-220-150(1)(c). This regulatory prohibition against the discharge of pollutants does not change based on the sensitivity of the test method used for routine monitoring.

PSA implies that use of the required Method 608 for routine monitoring will mean that PCBs will not be detected in Seattle Iron's discharge. PSA's own evidence at hearing belies that concern. In April 2014 Ecology issued a Notice of Violation to Seattle Iron for violations of permit limits for several pollutants, including PCBs. AR 1327–29. The notice lists six instances between October 2013 and March 2014 when PCBs were detected. AR 1328. The levels of PCBs in the discharge were all detected at levels above method detection limit for Method 608.⁷

Outside of the context of routine discharge monitoring, other activities on the Lower Duwamish River are being conducted as part of the ongoing river cleanup. Board Decision at 27. For instance, King County, the City of Seattle, and Ecology have done extensive work using methods more sensitive than Method 608 for PCB detection in these non-routine studies and activities. *Id.* Ecology's ability to issue enforcement for

⁷ The method detection limit for Method 608 is 0.25 μ g/L. Board Decision at 24. The method detection limit is the limit at which the target chemical can be reliably detected, but not necessarily reliably quantified. Board Decision at 26. As PSA indicates, the practical quantitation limit for Method 608 is 0.50 μ g/L. Petition at 9. The practical quantitation limit is a statistical calculation which results in a reliable measure of the amount of the pollutant. Board Decision at 26. The practical quantitation limit is always higher than the method detection limit.

discharges that exceed the limits found in the permit is not limited to data developed only through routine compliance monitoring. Ecology is able to utilize all sources of data when exercising its enforcement discretion.

Not only is Method 608 capable of detecting PCBs in Seattle Iron's discharge, there is no basis to suggest that data derived using methods other than Method 608 cannot be the basis for enforcement of a violation of a discharge limit. The use of the required PCB detection method for routine monitoring does not alter the enforceability of the discharge limit for PCBs in Seattle Iron's Permit.

C. There is No Conflict With Other Court of Appeals' Decisions Requiring This Court's Intervention

PSA's Petition also attempts to manufacture a conflict between two decisions from the Court of Appeals in order to argue there is reason for this Court to accept review. No such conflict exists. Both cases present the question of whether Ecology's actions were consistent with its own regulations. Both cases held that Ecology was required to follow its own rules. In the case at bar, Ecology followed its own rules and used the method required by regulation to test for PCBs in Seattle Iron's discharge Permit. No further review by this Court is necessary.

In *PSA I*, the Court of Appeals reviewed a NPDES permit condition that required the permittee to conduct Whole Effluent Toxicity

(WET) testing on its discharge. *PSA I*, 189 Wn. App. at 132. The WET regulations, WAC 173-205, stated that compliance with state water quality standards was achieved when "the most recent acute toxicity test has shown no statistically significant difference in response [of the test organisms] between the acute critical effluent concentration and a control." WAC 173-205-070(1). The permit issued by Ecology in *PSA I*, however, contained a WET test condition that assessed compliance only after a <u>second</u> test was conducted. *PSA I*, 189 Wn. App. at 133. The Court of Appeals found that this permit condition directly conflicted with the regulation requiring the results of "the most recent" test to be the measure of compliance with water quality standards. *Id.* at 149. The court held that the regulations' plain language determined the outcome, and concluded that NPDES permits must be consistent with state water quality standards. *Id.* at 151–52.

In so holding, the Court of Appeals relied on the text of the WET regulations. The court said first that the regulation "plainly states that a failed WET test means that 'the effluent has failed the test for compliance with the whole effluent acute toxicity limit." *Id.* at 149. The court went on to state "[t]hus, a single failed WET test based on a statistically significant difference in survival shows that a discharge has occurred in violation of both federal and state statutes. In addition, 40 C.F.R. section 122.4 and

RCW 90.48.520 each prohibit issuing NPDES permits that allow violations of state water quality standards." *Id.* Therefore, the court found the permit condition at issue "contradicts applicable state and federal statutes, as well as a federal rule." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals' decision below presents no conflict with the court's decision in *PSA I*. The two cases deal with entirely different issues and regulations. If anything, the decisions in the two cases are fully consistent because both require Ecology to follow its own regulations in issuing NPDES permits. As described above, both the federal and state regulations at issue in this case provide that the methods used to test a permitted discharge for specific pollutants must be those published in 40 C.F.R. part 136. Method 608, not Method 1668C, is the method listed in the federal regulation for the testing of PCBs.

/// /// /// /// ///

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals committed no error when it concluded that Ecology was required to follow federal and state regulations that mandate the use of Method 608 for PCB testing in NPDES permits. PSA's Petition should be denied.